United Nat'lg[](s 1/ bl _ AJc.2i54/5R 37

23RN
\\4 )\// Fifty-fourth session 22 November 1999
NS .

7 Official Records Original: English

Second Committee

Summary record of the 37th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Thursday, 11 November 1999, at 10 a.m.

Chairman Mr. Olhaye . ... (Djibouti)

Contents
Agenda item 97: Macroeconomic policy questiooentinued
(c) Trade and development

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concernedithin one week of the date of publicatitinthe Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate nourgér each Committee.

99-82337 (E)



A/C.2/54/SR.37

The meeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m. the different approaches would illuminate the issue of
development. The debate would be the bedrock on which
developmentin the future would be built. The session could

Agenda item 97: Macroeconomic policy questions  set the tone of that debate and the agenda for future

(continued discussion of trade and development issues.

(c) Trade and development (A/54/15, parts I-V, 5 Turning to preparations for the third Ministerial
A/54/94-5/199918, A/54/304, AI5B92, A/54/486, Conference of WTO, he said that WTO and UNCTAD were
Al54/529) collaborating closely and hadaently organized, with the

1. Mr. Ricupero (Secretary-General of United Nationgissistance of the International Trade Centre, a “Geneva
Conference on Trade and Deve|0pment (UNCTAD)) Saweek” for the benefit of those countries that were not
that he would like to share a number of persondfpresentedin Geneva. The Ministerial Conference would
observations on the main s'abts of concern, especia”yset the stage for trade negotiations, as well as Settiﬂg clear
recent developments and the challenges of the monfl#es on targets, and it would do so in a binding Seattle
ahead in terms of the forthcoming tenth session &eclaration. UNCTAD hoped to see the concerns of
UNCTAD, the preparations for the third Ministerialdeveloping countries fully expressed in that Declaration.
Conference of the World Trade Organization (WTO), anghe Ministerial Conference should clearly establish the
recent developments in the Intational Monetary Fund next round oftrade negotiations as a “developmentround”.

(IMF). 6. There had been far-reaching changes in the Bretton

2. Thetenth session of UNCTAD would be taking plac¥/0ods institutions, which now had poverty reduction as
in a region and a country which had been a success stétgir centrepiece; in fact, the Managing Director of IMF
for development but which had become the epicentre oh@d described poverty asthe greatest systemic threat. That
financial earthquake which had spread as far as Lat¥ps a historic change in approach which would have long-
Americaand the Russian Federation. Although that regi&@rm implications. A decision would have to be taken on
had conquered the crisis and was making a strong recovéyw efforts to reduce poverty were to be evaluated.
the session should be an Opportunity for countries in ttdNCTAD derived a certain modest satisfaction from the
region and in the rest of the world to consider ho@ctthat many of the positions it had been trying to defend

development crises could be faced and overcome.  for many years in splendid isolation were now finding

. . . echoes in the discourse of its sister organizations.
3. It would provide an opportunity for high-level

reflection on the experience of developmentin the lastfely ~UNCTAD welcomed the enormous opportunities
decades and for mapping out the route ahead. It woliteated by globalization, but felt that they should be
feature a number of innovative events and activitieBandled with care, and especially with sound
including a round-table meeting of heads of State af@acroeconomic policies and sequencing. What mattered
Government, a round table involving heads of Unite@asthequalityand stesnability ofintegration rather than
Nations development agencies; and a round table of leadifgextent, intensity and speed.

world economists on the latest thinking in developmengt  Mr. Petit (President of the Trade and Development
theory. There would be discussion of the region®oard) said that the report of the Trade and Development
dimension, in preparation for which the directors of aBoard on its nineteenth executive session (A/54/15 (Part
United Nations regional economic commissions had beg)) provided information on the functioning of the
invited to explain how development affected theimntergovernmental mechanisms of UNCTAD. The
respective regions, and the heads of the major economjentieth executive session of the Board (A/54/15 (Part 1))
and financial agencies had been invited to engage imad resulted in the adoption of a draft provisional agenda
dialogue with ministers. for the tenth session of UNCTAD, and the twenty-first
4. The expectation was that the session would provig&ecutive session (A/54/15 (Part Ill)) had focused on the
a strong input to the Millenniussembly of the United contribution of UNCTAD to the United Nations New
Nations: all major Speakers had been asked to bring W‘yﬁgenda for the Development of Africain the 1990s. At its
them a document that would be submitted to thiventy-second executive session (A/54/15 (Part1V)), the
Millennium Assembly. Nattempt would be made to securédoard had taken note of the report ofthe Secretary-General
an agreed consensus; rather the session was seen a@f INCTAD on financing the participation ofexperts from
opportunity for engaging in debate, and it was hoped th@gveloping countries in UNCTAD meetings through



A/C.2/54/SR.37

savings allocated by the Genefalsembly. The increased transport sector. It had also reviewed the technical
participation of experts from developing countries hacdooperation activities of UNCTAD an@ceived a report
enhanced dialogue in UNCTAD and he hoped that am assistance to the Palestinian people, which, it hoped,
additional allocation of resources for that purpose wouldould continue.

be approved. 13. TheBoard had considered specific actions related to

9. Introducingthereportofthe Trade and Developmettie particular needs and problems oflandlocked developing
Board on its forty-sixth session (A/54/15 (Part V)), he saidountries (A/54/529). Its work had been facilitated by the
thatthe Board had consideredinterdependence and glotedort of the Secretary-General of UNCTAD andthereport
economicissuesfromatrade and development perspectiviethe fourth Meeting of Governmental Experts from
with emphasis on trade, growth and external financing irandlocked and Transit Developing Countries and
developing countries. That was also the theme of tiepresentatives of Donor Countries and Financial and
UNCTAD Trade and Development Report, 199he DevelopmentInstitutions. While recognizing that excessive
discussions had focused on the advantages and dangetsasfsport costs were a problem, the Board had noted that
globalization, particularly as it affected multilateral tradéhe landlocked developing countries had managed to
relations and the global financial system. Representativegercome non-physical barriers to trade through
of the developing countries had stressed the unequatangements with neighbouring transit countries.
distribution of the benefits of globalization, the risk oNonetheless, the financial support of the international
marginalizing certain countries and the problems relatirmpmmunity was needed in order to improve infrastructure
tothe management and regulation of globalization. Theirethose countries.

had b(leen.broad agreement on thg advantages of trag{(_a He drewattention tothe outcome ofthe consultations
liberalization and a rule-based multilateral trade systen), ne review and functioning of the Intergovernmental

In that_context, UNCTAD could play an important role Ir\Norking Group of Experts on International Standards of
analysing development constraints. Accounting and Reporting and the Intergovernmental
10. The Board had also reviewed progress in tHeroup of Expertson Competition Lawand Policy (A/54/15

implementation of the Programme of Action for the LeagPart V), section | D 4), adding that the Board was seeking
Developed Countries forthe 1990s. It had expressed regite¢  endorsement of the General Assembly for the
thatThe Least Developed Countries 1999 Rep@s not agreement outlined in paragraph 7 (c).

yet available and, in anticipation of the third Ministerial 5 Finally, the Board had established an open-ended
Conference of the World Trade Organization, it hag,mmittee of the Whole to elaborate the substantive pre-
requested the UNCTAD secretariat to increase ifSonference text. The Committee had completed a first
assistance to the least developed countries througly qing of the draft texts submitted by the Group of 77 and
analytical work to facilitate the formulation of a positivechina and would start considering the numerous

agenda in trade negotiations and through technicahengments and variations that had been proposed:
assistance to strengthen their capacity to defend thﬁﬁwever, it would await the conclusion of the WTO

interests in future negotiations. Ministerial Conference before dealing with trade issues.

11. The Board had ?ISO rr]evie_l\_/\r/?ddthe 'stztu; of thg Mr. Paribatra (Thailand) said that the tenth session
preparatory process for the ird Unite atlonccifUNCTAD,WouIdaddressallaspectsofdevelopmentand

Conference on th_e Least Developed Countries. It believgf - 1> ation and forge a new approach to cooperation in
tha_t the forthcoml_ng conferences of WTO, UNC_TAD' _th ternational development. Such an approach should
reviews of the major global conferences, the M'“enn'ur‘?wolve the participation not only of Governments and

Assembly and the high-level internationa ntergovernmental organizations but also of non-

hnter?overnmeﬂtalld C(I)In5|de_:jat|_on ?f frlwnancmg f_oggvernmental organizations, the private sector and civil
evelopment should all provide input for the preparatio, ciety. It should be aimed at achieving growth, stability

of the Third Conference. and equity simultaneously, with a view to facilitating the
12. The Board had adopted agreed conclusions @rdl integration of developing countries into the global
African transportinfrastructure, trade and competitivenessonomy. He expressed the hope that all countries and
inwhich it pinpointed the lack ofinvestmentin human andrganizations would participate at the highest possible
physical infrastructure as the main obstacle to sustainkedgel.

growth and sustainable development, particularly in the



A/C.2/54/SR.37

17. Thetenth session of UNCTAD would be preceded \ssembly hadillocated to UNCTAD. In 1998, regional

a round-table discussion of eminent economists avorkshops had been organized in the Republic of Korea,
development strategies for the twenty-first century andSouth Africa and the Dominican Republic with government
high-level round table among heads of United Natiormipport in order to discuss the Positive Agenda. The
agencies on development issues and globalization. Evergrkshops had focused on practical issues, such as the
day would start with a keynote address by a distinguishethboration of a draft Seattle declaration that took into
speaker. Aspecial high-level meeting of Heads of State aadcount the concerns of developing countries, including
Government from developing and developed countriesiti-dumping, tariff peaks, agriculture and technical
would be held before the conclusion of the Conference. lharriers to trade.

objective would be to discuss new development strategi®$  a stressed the role of UNCTAD as a knowledge-
for the international economic system. Numerous meetinggse institution. In that connection, he referred to its
ofgovernment officials, non-governmental organizationg,pjication of thavorld Investment Repoaind a series of
and members of the private sector would take plagg,qqraphs on specific aspects of negotiations, which
simultaneously with the tenth session. Exhibitions on the, 14 ultimately be compiled in an encyclopedia. The
themesofpovertyeradication,informationtechnologyar]gng_term training programmes of UNCTAD covered
natural resources management would also be organi mercial diplomacy and a newly designed course on
with the aim of increasing public awareness of the ISSUgR estment negotiations; UNCTAD also provided training
and enabling the countries of the South to exchange yeyeloping countries on foreign debt management. In
experiences on those matters. all its activities, it worked in cooperation with WTO, the
18. Mr. Wyatt (European Community) noted thatWorld Bank, the International Trade Centre and IMF.

resistance to protectionist measures in an open and r%%—_ Mr. Cabactulan (Philippines) said that, while his
based multilateral trade system had helped many Countrbee?egation welcomed the fact that some developing
to recover from the recent finaiatcrisis. In that context, countries that had been affected by the 1997 Asian crisis

B‘T\I'Cr:‘_?u'red ?jbout(f)LjrttI:er clooperahnorr:, not only betwg%ere well on their way to recovery, perhaps as a result of
AD and WTO, but also with the Bretton Woods ening up their markets and eschewing protectionism,

institutions, in order to ensurethattradeIlberallzatlon toq?fany developing countries that depended on agriculture
development needs more fully into account.

for their economic growth were facing unfair competition

19. Mr. Ricupero (Secretary-General of UNCTAD) saidfrom the heavily subsidized agricultural commodities of
that cooperation between UNCTAD and WTO waindustrial countries. In that regard, he wondered what
extremely close and took the form after alia, joint UNCTAD coulddotoensurethatpractical and earlyaction
studies and regular consultations between the heads ofwhes taken at the third Ministerial Conference of WTO and
two entities. Atthe second MinistatConference of WTO, at the tenth session of UNCTAD to address the vital
UNCTAD had been specifically requested to provide inpuioncerns of developing countries.

in the areas of investment and competition and had b Mr. Olaniyan (Observer for the Organization of

carrying out studies to inform WTO deliberationsin thosﬁfr'ican Unity (OAU)) welcomed the decision of IMF to
areas. In addition, the meetings of WTO and UNCTAD,, o hoverty eradication at the heart of its policies. He

were coordinated in order to enable representatives\%ndered about the long-term implications on the Fund’s
attend both. policies of its involvement in poverty eradication issues,

20. Three years earlier, UNCTAD had launched and about how developing countries could get actively
programme which had become its mainstay, namely, tirevolved in discussions on the central issue of development
Positive Agenda to help developing countries take ia Seattle.

realistic and proactive approach to multilateraé4_ Mr. Talbot (Guyana), speaking on behalf of the
negotiations. Indeed, for thefirsttimein history, moretha@roup of 77 and China, asked for the UNCTAD Secretary-

50 per cent of the proposals for t_he WTO Seatt!@-eneral’s perspective on the role of UNCTAD in the
preparatory process had been submitted by devemp'ﬁ't%cess of financing for development and on its

countries. UN.CTAD’ through its data banl_< and a j(?m&ontributions to the global debate on development.
programme with the World Bank, would provide statistics,

analyses and other intellectual input to developingd- Ms. Fahmy (Egypt), noting that Egypt expected
countries during the negotiating process. The Positieuch from the tenth session of UNCTAD, sought the
Agenda initiative was financed by savings the GenergPinion of the UNCTAD Secretary-General on the final



A/C.2/54/SR.37

review of the United Nations New Agenda for thenoney, finance, trade and investment issues. One of its
Development of Africa in the 1990s. She wondereparticular concerns in that respect was that, so far,
whether there were any negotiations under way atthe legg$cussions about the new financial architecture had
ofthe Trade and Development Board for the coming yeaaddressed the concerns of 29 emerging markets that
Atits next session, UNCTAD should consider developmenatready had some accesstothe global market, but notthose
issuesinthe broadest sense, ranging from trade and textiiethe 140 countries that were not a part of those emerging
agreements that had already been entered into, to tharkets. A primary goal of UNCTAD in that regard was
preferential treatment of developing country exports. tb put the interests of the latter group of countries on the
should highlightthe nexus between developmentand tragep.

and their direct links with efforts to eradicate povertyangy  yNCTAD had made extensive contributions to the

there was a difference between the mandate of UNCTAP the 1990s. It hadecently published 20-page report
and that of WTO, and about the role of UNCTAD in thgjgyin ¢ its activities in that regard. In the area of trade, for

definition of long-term policies during the next Cemury‘example it had been working with the Economic

26. Mr. Mozhukov (Belarus) said that, while Commission for Africaand OAU, and had organized joint
membership in WTO was not universal, WTO decisiongorkshopsto prepare countries for negotiations both at the
affected all States. He therefore wondered whetherregional and national levels. It had also drawn attention
machinery for consultations had been envisaged to enatideinvestment opportunities in Africa. Indeed, despite
States that were not members of WTO to comment on tA&ica’'s unfavourable reputation in that area, many
results of the WTO Ministerial Meeting before the tentinvestments in Africa had shown higher returns than in
session of UNCTAD. other regions. One area where immediate results were
ossible concerned net food importing countries. That
tter could be discussed in Seattle with a view to making

promise made to those countries binding and
orceable.

27. Ms.Vargas(Costa Rica), referringtothe importancep
of investing in human resources development in order &
ensure sustainable development, said that, when deall nq
with people living in extreme poverty, it was clear thaf
their low self-esteem made them loath toacceptchalleng@é. UNCTAD had recently organized a very important
All analyses relating to efforts to eradicate poverty shoulieeting on trade as a tool for the promotion ofwomen. The
take into account the human element. That might be theport thereon showed practical ways of involving women
first step in achieving the development so eagerly sougéntrepreneurs in trade promotion, particularly in poor
by everyone. countries. On the matter of universalization of the system,
General of UNCTAD) saidhe suggested thatone possibienediate result ofthe third

that there were several ideas as to what could be achi(\ej@@iswrial cpnference would be the creation qfafasttrack
in Seattle interms ofimmediate results. One such idea the admission of least developed cogntrles to WTO.
free market access for the 48 least developed countri-e!—g,",enty of the 48 least qeveloped countries were not yet
which would eliminate tariffs and barriers for their exportiﬂembers' Other cpuntrles which had aIready_startgd the
Othersincluded making trade-related technical assistarft@cess _Of accession shouldditowed to participate n
a binding commitment ancteelemting liberalization in neggt!athns .and to ca_ede to WTQ Fhrough their
the area of textiles. Concerning poverty eradication adPgrticipation in the multilateral negotiations.
central element of the lending policies of the BrettoB2. He agreed with the representative of Costa Rica that
Woods institutions, he said that it would be interesting ia combating poverty, it was crucial to consider self-
discuss ways of evaluating poverty eradication efforts lggteem. One tool in that area was microcredit, which
individual countries. However, the criteria to be followe@&nabled people to establish their own small businesses. In
in that regard must be carefully weighed. that regard, UNCTAD had tried, with the assistance of
(lnyxembourg, to create a private investment market, with
jorinternational banks participating. Most microcredit

in Seattle would be market power. Alliances would crea nks depended on f‘_"?d'”g’ UNCTAD ha(_j tried to cre_ate
e necessary conditions for commercially attractive

larger markets. UNCTAD had much to contribute to th 7= . o
rl\vestments in microcredit. The only remaining problem

debate on financing for development for it was the focd . . . .
as that of the administrative costs involved in such a

point of the United Nations for the integrated treatment Jf
venture.

28. Mr. Ricupero (Secretary-

29. Developing countries should take a proactive positi
in Seattle and form coalitions, since power counted. Po



A/C.2/54/SR.37

33. Mr. Petit (President of the Trade and Development
Board) said that a mechanism had been devised to enable
non-member States of WTO to comment on the results of
the Seattle meeting. The preparations for Bangkok would
depend largely on what did or did not take place in Seattle.

34. Regarding the comment made by the representative
of the Philippines, he noted that the ongoing negotiations
onthedrafting ofthe Seattle ministerial deataon should

not be oversimplified. Farm subsidies in industrialized
countries were often designed to limit output of those
countries to make room for that of developing countries,
while guaranteeing adequate income to farmers. The
negotiations were broader and more complex than that
aspect alone.

35. Microcredit was a wonderful tool for development
that helped to improve people’'s living conditions.
UNCTAD should be encouraged to continue and fine tune
its work in that area. He hoped the issue would be
addressed at the Bangkok conference.

The meeting rose at 12.30 p.m



